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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ANDREW E. BRADSHAW,
Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 11€v-00536 (BAH)

Judge Beryl A. Howell
OFFICE OF THE ARCHITECT OF THE

CAPITOL,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Andrew E. Bradshaw filed a 24-count Complaint alleging that tFendant
Office of the Architect of the Capitol, his former employer, violated the Csspral
Accountability Act (“CAA”), 2 U.S.C. 8 130%t. segas well as prohibitions against
employment discrimination and retaliatory employment practices througrenetece with
plaintiff’'s application for disability retirement, constructive dischargthefplaintiff from his
employment, and creation of a hostile work environm&seComplaint (*Compl.”), ECF No.
1,911, 2, 3. Pending before the Court is the defendant’s Motion to Dismiss. ECF No. 4. The
defendant seeks to dismiss 18 counttheplaintiff's Complaintpursuant to Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure Rule 12(b)(1) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, due to thifflaifailure
to seek counseling within 180 days after the alleged violation, or his knowledge oétezlall
violation, as required by 2 U.S.C. § 1402(a). The defendant also seeks to dismiss 12 counts of
the Complainpursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be
granted, or in the alternative, summary judgment. For the reasons explained hislGeyitt

dismisses 12 counts of the plaintiff's Complaint under Rule 12(b)(1) (Counts 1, 2, 3, 7, 9, 10, 11,
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15, 17, 18, 19, and 23), and the remaining 12 counts of the Complaint under Rule 12(b)(6)
(Counts 4, 5, 6, 8, 12, 13, 14, 16, 20, 21, 22, and 24). Since the Court dismisses all 24 counts of
the plaintiff's Complaint, the plaintiff's case is dismissed.

l. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The plaintiff is a former employee in the Labor Division of the Office of thehikect of
the Capitol. Compl. 9. He asserts that he is an AFSCME Local 626 dues-paying union
member and is considered a “covered employé.Y 4. The plaintiff was employed in the
Labor Division from May 5, 2003 until 2008 when he was separated from employment pursuant
to a Settlement Agreement with the defendaat f§ 9, 44, 45. The plaintiff notes that
throughout his employment with the defendant, the defendant knew of “[p]laintiffeqathy
impairments of the major life activities of eating, sleeping, walkingngeand concentrating
pursuant to the qualified ADA [Americans with Disabilities Act] disabilities of éiab, sleep
apnea, hypertension, chronic knee problems, morbid obesity, depression, seeing, and substance
abuse.”ld. § 13. According to the plaintiff, defendant “regarded the [p]laintiff as disabled”
throughout his employment because of the aforementioned physical limitatiofisl4.

In 2007, the plaintiff's supervisor proposed that the plaintiff be removed from his
employment because of thiamtiff's “failure to follow leave procedures, absences without
authorized leave . . ., inappropriate behavior, sleeping during duty hours, disappearance during
duty hours and failure to follow the direct order of a superviskt.’y 22;see also
Plaintiff's/Applicant’s Statement of Disability, ECF No-44 at 5, question 6 (“As a result of my
sleep apnea and alcoholism, | had difficulty staying awake, being on time emdiragtmy job
regularly which impacted my ability to perform duties with othaffshembers, and affected my

work relationship with my supervisors.ijl. at 5, question §My sleep apnea has affected my



ability to remain awake and alert on the job and as a result, | was preventegp&ating
forklifts and other machinery”jd. (“My knee problem also reduced my mobility which made it
difficult for me to perform tasks that required a great deal of walking or gadyesxertion.”).

This lawsuit concerns the plaintiff's application for disability retirement bisnef
following his sepeation from employment. After the plaintiff submitted his application for
disability retirement benefits on December 31, 2008, he was initially deniefitbe@neJanuary
25, 2010. Thelaintiff was ultimately awarded disability retirement béts as ofFebruary 10,
2011. Nevertheless, he initiated this lawsuit on March 14, 2011, claiming that the January 25,
2010letter from the Office of Personnel Management (“OPM”) denying his tityaietirement
application provided the plaintiff notice that the defendant had engaged in unlawful
discriminatory and retaliatory employment practjegich resultedn the initial delay or denial
of his disability retirement benefigmdhad the effect of “depriv[ing] the Plaintiff of equal
employment opportunities, terms, conditions and benefits of employment and otherwise
adversely affect[ing] his status as an employee.” Compl. § 215. The plaisdiftlaims that he
was “terminated” from his employment improperly, which resulted in deldyistast
compensation from his employer and the wrongful termination of his health bendfits a
insurance in February, 200SeeDeclaration of Andrew E. BradshgiBradshaw Decl.”) ECF
No. 8-1,11 9296. This meant that, for a two year period, from February 2009 throughaFgbr
2011, the plaintiff had “no medical insurance or benefits to cover treatment of the now
exacerbated diagnosed medical conditiord.”] 96. The plaintiff brought this suit seeking
$600,000.00 in “compensatory damages and damages consistent WZA&}¢ as well as

attorneys’ fees, to be made “whole for all earnings and benefits he would haveddugifor



Defendant’s unlawful and prohibited discriminatory and retaliatory empaypractices,see
Compl. at 4647 (Prayer for Relief, at 113).
A. Plaintiff's Separation from Employment
On November 9, 2007, Herbert Francis, General Foreman of the Labor Division of the
U.S. Capitol Buildings, “proposed the removal of the Plaintiff from his employment . . . for
failure to follow leave procedures, absences without authorized leave (AW1@ppropriate
behavior, sleeping during duty hours, disappearance during duty hours and failure to follow the
direct order of a supervisorld. § 22. The plaintiff states that he “timely submitted a response”
to the proposal to remove him from employmelat. § 23. On February 13, 2008, Carlos Elias,
Superintendent of the U.S. Capitol Buildings, “concurred” in the proposal to remove titdfplai
from employment.ld. § 24. The plaintiff requested “a due process hearing pursuant to Chapter
752" of the Architect of the Capitol Personnel Manulff 22, 25, which was scheduled for
May 8, 2008
On the date of the hearing, the parties entered into a Settlement Agreementdfralieu
formal hearing.”Id.  2Z7. The Settlement Agreement provided for the “irrevocable resignation
of the [p]laintiff,” seeid. 28, and includednter alia, the following terms:
e “Mr. Bradshaw will work with the Employee Benefits and Services Bran&MH, to

submit an applicatiofor disability retirement by May 23, 2008, with a permissible
‘grace period’ of 7 days in the event of any delay obtaining medical documents.”

! Sometime in the spring of 2008, the plaintifffough his union representative, Wally Reed, requested leave for the
plaintiff to enter a residential facility for 30 days for treatmentsigbstance abuse. Compl. § 16. The defendant
granted the leave request, and the plaintiff entered Hope Horesidlential treatment program, for the period
between March 3, 2008 and April 4, 2008. The plaintiff “successfullypéeted the supervised rehabilitation
program” before the date of the hearing. Compl. $82@9The plaintiff details these events is Riomplaint before

he details the proposed removal of the plaintiff from employm8agid. 11 20, 22. The proposed removal of the
plaintiff, however, took place in 2007, well before the plaintiff entéhedresidential treatment facility the

following year.

2 These termareexcerpted from the Settlement Agreement attached as an exhibit to theah¢fe Motion to
Dismiss. SeeECF No. 42.
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e “Mr. Bradshaw will be carried in a paid administrative leave status until A@y2908.”

e “Mr. Bradshaw will be carried in a LWOP [Leave without Pay] status afieguss own
leave accruals for up to six (6) months or on the date a decision is received from the
Office of Personnel Management (OPM) concerning his disability regimeapplication,
whichever caes first.”

e “Mr. Bradshaw hereby submits his irrevocable resignation effective anthef the
LWOP period or on the date a decision is received from OPM concerning his tisabili
retirement application, whichever comes first (*This flexibility is pded based on the
understanding that OPM is presently backlogged at 6-8 months).”

e “Mr. Bradshaw will not return to the Capitol Building work site for any reasar aft
today.”

e “In the event of Mr. Bradshaw’s breach of this agreement, this agreemebéewiid
and the termination action will be effective immediately without a right to a cassvrev
by a Hearing Officer, or a formal hearing before a Hearing Officer,dnauany
grievances under the Collective Bargaining Agreement as of July 10, 20G¥, and
permanent record of the discipline action shall be placed in his Official Peksahther
(OPF).”

e “By signature of this agreement, AFSCME Local 626, and Andrew Bradshaw withdra
and forgo all actions that could be filed against the AOC or its officials regalding t

proposed termination, including any grievances under the Collective Bargaining
Agreement of July 10, 2007.”

e “Successful completion of this agreement constitutes that no more than Mh&sésls
resignation will be included in his Officialel’sonnel File (OPF).”

On June 20, 2008, Stephen Ayers, the then Acting Director of the Capitol, informed the
plaintiff in a letter that the Security Agreement “as presented and agreed taigpatiories
during the formal hearing held on May 8, 2008, shall be effected as written.” Compl. § 44.

B. Plaintiff's Disability Retirement Application and Appeals
Although the Settlement Agreement stipulated that the plaintiff would submit his
disability retirement application by May 23, 2008, with a seven day grace peraddunt for

delays in obtaining medical records, his mother, June Henderson, acting on thd’plagttilf,



did not submit his application until December 31, 20@B. 47;Bradshaw Declf{ 49513
The application was not complete when the plaintiff submitted it, however, because his
supervisor (Supervisor James Barber) had not yet provided the required “Suprvisor’
Statement.” The plaintiff alleges tha¢ had “made timely and numerous requests for the
statement of Plaintiff's secdrine supervisor James Barber to be submitted with his application
for disability retirement,’seeCompl. 1 46; PI.’s Decl. 11 41-42, but to no avail.
After the plaintiff submitted his application, Chief Vento, Chief of the Employereehts

and Service8ranch of the Human Resources Management Division of the Office of the
Architect of the Capitol, advised the plaintiff's mother that the plaintiff's disgb#tirement
application would be submitted to OPM in the first week of January 2009. Compl. 1 48. The
plaintiff alleges that he and his mother met with Chief Vento in her office in lataryamuearly
February to inquire about the status of the application, and Chief Vento assured thesime‘that
had submitted the applicationld. 1 49-50. Thelaintiff and his mother again met with Chief
Vento during March 2009 to inquire about the status of his application because he had not yet
heard anythingld. { 51. After speaking with “an unidentified person” on the phone to inquire
about the statusf ¢the plaintiff's application, Chief Vento told the plaintiff that “the application
had been received.ld. § 52.

It was not until April 2009 when the plaintiff and his mother again met with Chief Vento
to inquire about the status of the plaintiffigplication that Chief Vento informed the plaintiff
that his application had been “held up” in the National Finance Center (“NFC”) ‘Setae
[p]laintiff had not been totally severed from his position due to the agency owinglacheti

to the [p]laintff.” Id. § 55. Chief Vento explained that “after the agency cut the [p]laintiff a

% The parties do not suggest that this-élteg on the part of the plaintiff was a breach of the SettlemMemneement
so the Court will not consider that issue either.



check the NFC would continue to process” his applicatldny 56. In May 2009, the plaintiff
had still not heard anything about the status of his application. AtrtteggtChief Vento
allegedly reiterated that the plaintiff's application was being “held up” untéhdjemcy
processed a check owed to the plaintiff.  58. In May 2009, the plaintiff and his mother
authorized Chief Vento to speak to the NFC and OPM on his behalf about the status of his
application. Id. 1 59.

In June or July 2009, the plaintiff and his mother spoke with Margaret Newton, a
retirement specialist in the Employee Benefits and Service Branch of tharHResources
Management Division ahe Office of the Architect of the Capitold.  60. Newton allegedly
informed the plaintiff at that time that his application had not yet been prddegsiee NFC,
and that the application “was still sitting in the NFC office as they did not knowtwkat with
the application” because the plaintiff was terminated from employment ondfgl®, 2009 as a
“resignation,” and “not a disability retirementld. 11 6262. The plaintiff also states that he
learned at that time that “the application wasnegorded as being received in the NFC until
February 27, 2009, approximately two months subsequent to the time Chief Vento was to [have
submitted] the application in early January, 200@L" 63. It was not until July 16, 2009,
almost eight months after the plaintiff submitted his application, that OPM received the
application. Id. 1 64.

Five months later, when it appears that the plaintiff still knew nothing about the sfa
his application, the plaintiff contacted Congressman Steny Hoyequestassistance
“respecting the processing of his application for disability retirementisicentinuation of his
health benefits and insurance and other benefits ‘lost’ during the alleged procddss

application for disability retirement.td.  65. Following Congressman Hoyer’s request to



officials in the Office of the Architect of the Capitol, the plaintiff was inded by the OPM, on
January 25, 2010, that his application for disability retirement had been d&hi§§.6667.

The plaintiff alleges that it was in the January 25, 2010 OPM denial letteM“OP
Letter”) that he “first learned that James Barber, [p]laintiff's second lipersisor, documented
that [p]laintiff had a service deficiency of unacceptable attendance” and that “tleaimed
documents regarding [p]laintiff’s restrictions ‘did not show that the sedetieiency described
by [Barber] was as a result of a disabling medical condition that precludpdrtbemance of
[plaintiff’'s] essential duties or medically warranfgdaintiff’'s] continued absence [from] the
workplace.” Id. | 68%

On February 17, 2010, Congressman Hoyer’s office provided the plaintiff a February 4,
2010 letter from Stephen Ayers, then Acting Architect of the Capitol, writtersponse to the
Congressman’s inquiry. Ayers noted in the letter that the plaintiff's apiplicpackage “was
processed and forwarded to the [NFC] on February 27, 20697 70. Ayers also stated that
“due to an administrative letter by AOC, Mr . Bradshaw’s voluntary res@natas processed
before his application for disability retirement was adjudicated by [OPM].Y 71. “[T]his
discrepancy,” according to Ayers, “caused a delay in processing at NF&reaslt, OPM did
not receive Mr. Bradshaw’s application from NFC until September 16, 20097 72.

“[W]hile AOC endeavored to resolve this matter with both NFC and OPM,” Ayetexistdhe

* The plaintiff provides the following summary of the information pded by Supervisor Barber in the
Supervisor's Statement: “The information provided by Barber appe&exiion C. Information about Employee’s
Attendance. (Supervisor’s Statement p.2). In response to theoguésemployee’s attendance unacceptable for
continuing in current position?’, the available responses were ‘Ngks, attendance stopped or became
unacceptable.1d. The latter response was checked off. Block 3 also asked ‘Explain the irhpatiloyee’s
absence on [your] work operations.” The response is ‘HRMD and maeagenet with Mr. Bradshaw 5/8/08 to
settle this matter. (Supervisor's Statement).” Pl.’s Opp. to Defate®ent of Material Facts Not in Genuine
Dispute, ECF No. 8, 1 14. The Supervisor's Statement also incheésllowing question: “6. Identify any critical
element(s) of the position which employee does not perform sucdgssfat all. Explain the deficiencies you
observed. Attach supporting documentation such as notice to . loyemghat performance is less than fully
[successful] or physician’s recommendation regarding medicalateésts.” ECF No. 43 at 2. SupervisdBarber
responded “All Documents are attached (medical) Regarding Restrictionitc.”
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issues involved precluded the timely handling of Mr. Bradshaw’s applicatldn{ 73. Ayers
also allegedly noted (appaatly incorrectly) that “to date, OPM has not rendered a decision on
Mr. Bradshaw's disability retirement application. Discussions with OPaled that the case

is under review and a final determination should be issued in the coming wékk$.74.

On March 18, 2010, the plaintiff submitted a Motion for Reconsideration of OPM’s
decision. He was alerted of OPM'’s “final decision” on July 19, 2010, which upheld the OPM
denial of his applicationld. {176-77. The plaintiff then hired a lawyer angepled the OPM
denial to the Merit Systems Protection Board. These appeals culminated cary&br2011,
when, over two years after submitting his application, the plaintiff was iefdtimat his
application for disability retirement was approved. § 80.

The plaintiff claims that he made a Request for Counseling in the Office of Can®lia
on July 16, 2010. The plaintiff alleges that the request was made based on the defendant’s
“interference with [p]laintiff's application for disability retiremg constructive discharge of the
[p]laintiff from his employment with defendant and creation of a hostile work enveonninid.

1 1. The plaintiff states that he also “timely requested and participated iatimegiursuant to 2
U.S.C. § 1403 of the CA” Pl.’s Mem. in Opp. to Def.’s Mot. to DismissRI:’'s Mem?) at 13.

The plaintiff then filed his 24ount Complaint in U.S. District Court for the District of
Columbia on March 14, 2011. ECF No. 1. The 24 counts of the plaintiff’'s Complaint are
detaled in the discussiosectionbelow.

On August 27, 2011, the defendant moved to dismiss eighteen counts of the plaintiff’s
Complaint (Counts 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 22, 23, 24) pursuant to
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 12(b)(1) for lack of subject mattedicticn, due to the

plaintiff’s failure to seek counseling within 180 days after the allegedtmaleor his knowledge



of the alleged violation, as required by 2 U.S.C. § 1402(a). The defendant moved to dismiss
twelve counts of the Complaint (Counts 4, 5, 6, 8, 12, 13, 14, 16, 20, 21, 22, 24) pursuant to Rule
12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, or in ¢neadive,
summary judgment.
Il. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Motion to Dismiss

On a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, under Rule 12(b){lg of t
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the plaintiff bears the burden of establishsdigtion by a
preponderance of the evidenddostofi v. NapolitanpNo. 11-0727, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
9563, at *4 (D.D.C. Jan. 27, 2012)t{ng Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlif&04 U.S. 555, 561
(1992));Ki Sun Kim v. United Statello. 08-01660, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2094, at *8 (D.D.C.
Jan. 9, 2012)Shekoyan v. Sibley Int'l @Qo., 217 F. Supp. 2d 59, 63 (D.D.C. 2002 the
Supreme Court has explained “many times,” the “district courts of the Unitex$ Sta are
‘courts of limited jurisdiction.They possess only that power authorized by Constitution and
statute” ExxonMobil Corp. v. Allapattah Serys545 U.S. 546, 552 (2005) (quotikgkkonen
v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Americ11 U.S. 375, 377 (1994)) (internal citations omittedg
alsoMicei Int'l v. DOC, 613 F.3d 1147, 1151 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (“[T]wo things aeeessary to
create jurisdiction in an Article Il tribunal other than the Supreme Court . . . dhgti@tion
must have given to the court the capacity to takend, an act of Congress must have supplied
it.”) (internal citatios and quotation marksmitted). For this reason, a “federal district court’s
initial obligation is to ascertain its subject matter jurisdictiomalyutin v. Rice677 F. Supp. 2d
43, 45 (D.D.C. 2009gff'd, No. 10-5015, 2010 U.S. App. LEXIS 13869 (D.C. Cir. July 6,

2010). When a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, it must dismiss the SasRavulapalli
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v. Napolitang 773 F. Supp. 2d 41, 48 (D.D.C. 201¥cManus v. District of Columbj&30 F.
Supp. 2d 46, 62 (D.D.C. 2007).

In evaluating whether a complaint suféotly states a claim for relief to withstand a
motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of Procedure 12(b)(6), the court must firstiasce
whether the complaint contains “a short and plain statement of the claim shoatittgeth
pleader is entitled to relig as well as grounds for the court’s jurisdictiand the specific relief
sought. ED.R.Civ.P.(8)(a). While “’detailed factual allegations’™ are not required, the
complaint must “give the defendant fair notice of what theclaim is and the gunds upon
which it rests.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 555 (200%internal citation and
guotation marks omittediee also Ciralsky v. CIAB55 F.3d 661, 668-71 (D.C. Cir. 2004
assessing whether a complaint is sufficient, the “caortstrues the complaint liberally in the
plaintiff's favor,” ‘accept[ing] as true all of the factual allegations comtaim the complaint.”
Aktieselskabet AF 2November 2001 v. Fame JeaB25 F.3d 8, 15 (D.C. Cir. 2008)iting
Kessem v. Wash. Hogptr., 513 F.3d 251 (D.C. Cir. 2008) aBtewart v. Nat'| Educ. Ass'n
471 F.3d 169, 173 (D.C. Cir. 20063ge alsAtherton v. District of Columbia Office of the
Mayor, 567 F.3d 672, 681 (D.C. Cir. 2009).

B. Exhaustion Requirement under the Congressionakccountability Act

The plaintiff brings this lawsuit under the Congressional Accountability /SAA"), 2
U.S.C. § 1317, in which the United States has provided a limited waiver of the legislative
branch’s sovereign immunity. Section 1408 of the CAdles, in relevant part:

The district courts of the United States shall have jurisdiction over any civiha

commenced under section 1404 of this title and this section by a covered

employee who has completed counseling under section 1402 and medialéon u

section 1403 of this title. A civil action may be commenced by a covered

employee only to seek redress for a violation for which the employee has
completed counseling and mediation.
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2 U.S.C. § 1408(a).

In the CAA, ‘Congress specified a thrseepprocess that requires counseling and
mediation before an employee may file a complaintisgekdministrative or judiciatelief.”
BlackmonMalloy v. United States Capitol Police B875 F.3d 699, 701 (D.C. Cir. 2009)he
CAA mandates that tHeeques for counseling . . be made not later than 180 days after the date
of the alleged violatiori 2 U.S.C. § 1402see alsarhompson v. Capitol Police Bd.20 F.

Supp. 2d 78, 82 (D.D.C. 2000) (finding thia¢ court lacked subject matter jurisdiction wher
plaintiff requested counseling more than 180 days after the alleged violdfiarparty does not
satisfy these requirements, there is no judicial remedy. 2 U.S.C. 8 EXd@ft as expressly
authorized by sections 1407, 1408, and 1409the .canpliance or noncompliance with the
provisions of thisChapterand any action taken pursuant to @Blsaptershall not be subject to
judicial review?).

As the plaintiff concedes, “[tidging a timely administrative charge is a prerequisite to
filing a Title VII claim in federal court.” Pl.’s Mem at 13 (citintarrell v. U.S. Postal Serv753
F.2d 1088, 1091 (D.C. Cir. 1985)). Unlike in Title VIl actions, however, the administrative or
exhaustion requirements under the CAA are jurisdictional prerequiSiesRlackmonMalloy,

575 F.3dat 702 (holding that the threstep process is jurisdictional and affirming the district
court’s ruling that “equitable doctrines . . . do notlgpp excuse compliance with it”).
[I. DISCUSSION

The plaintiff's 24-count Complat includes allegations based on 8 allegedly adverse acts
of the defendant, namely: (1) the “refusal by defendant to timely produce Supemiber's
statement to be submitted with plaintiff's applioatfor disability retirement,” Compl. at 13, 23,

33-34 (Counts 1, 9, 17); (2) the “refusal by defendant to provide the plaintiff with a copy of the
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statement of Supervisor Barber to be submitted with plaintiff's aplicé&r disability
retirement,” Compl. at 14, 24, 35 (Counts 2, 10, 18); (3) “Chiet&/smultiple
misrepresentations respecting the dates when she submitted plaintiff sitipplior disability
retirement,”"Compl. at 15, 16, 26, 37 (Counts 3, 11, 19); (4) “Acting Architect Ayers’
misrepresentations to Congressman Hoyer respectingwaesight’ and delay in submitting
plaintiff’'s application for disability retirementCompl. at 16, 27, 38 (Counts 4, 12, 20); (5)
“Defendant’s breach of section 9 of the May 8, 2008 Agreement by way of the statément
Supervisor Barber submitted with plaff's application for disability retirement,Compl. at 18,
28, 40 (Counts 5, 13, 21); (6) “Constructive DischargiefPlaintiff from employment,”
Compl. at 19, 29, 41 (Counts 6, 14, 22); (7) “Deprivation of Plaintiff's entitlement and right of
redress to a due process Chapter 752 formal hearing on the November 7, 2007 proposal to
remove the plaintiff from his employment with defendant,” Compl. at 20, 31, 43 (Count 7, 15,
23); and (8) “Creation of a supervisory hostile work environment,” Compl. at 22, 32, 45 (Count
8, 16, 24).

Each of these eight allegedly adverse acts forms the basis for the plattdiffis of
discrimination and retaliation based on his status as disabled under the ADA padihipation
in protected FMLA and union activitieSpecifically, n the first eight Counts of the Complaint,
the plaintiff alleges “unlawful discrimination based on Plaintiff's medical ckeod
Defendant’s regard of Plaintiff as disabled pursuant to the [ADA].” Pl.’s Merh;see also
Compl. at 13-22. In the second eight Counts, the plaintiff alleges “unlawful retalmation i
violation of [2 U.S.C. § 1317(a) of the CAA] based on Plaintiff's participation in federal
protected activities pursuant to the [FMLA]PIL.’s Mem. at 12; see alscCompl. at 23-32.The

third and final eight Counts allege “unlawful retaliation based on Plaintifftcgaation in
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federal protected activities pursuant to and based on Plaintiffs’'s dues payirtgrsieim in
AFSCME Local 626 and use of services of AFSCME Local 626 pursuant to [2 U.S.C. § 1351] of
the CAA.” Pl.’'s Mem. at 2see alsdCompl. at 33-45.

The Court concludes that 12 of the counts should be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(1) for
lack of subject matter jurisdiction and the remaining 12 of the counts shoulshbeseéd under
Rule 12(b)(6). Thegrounds for dismissare addressed seriatimelow.

A. Counts Dismissed under Rule 12(b)(1)

The defendant first argues that the@@t is without subject matter jurisdiction to address
many of the plaintiff's claims because those claims allege distinct adversesabt took place
more than 180 days before the plaintiff sought counseling as required in order todaimg a
under the CAA. The plaintiff alleges that he sought counseling on July 16, 2010. Compl. 11 1-3.
Therefore, the defendant argues that any events accruing before Jan2&01 72,80 days
before July 16, 2010, should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The Gburt fi
addresses the plaintiff's general arguments against dismissal Roté 12(b)(1) and then turns
to the underlying claims in Counts 1, 2, 3, 7, 9, 10, 11, 15, 17, 18, 19, and 23, all of which the
Court dismisses under Rule 12(b)(1).

1. Plaintiff's Arguments Against Dismissal under Rule 12(b)(1) are Unavaihg

The Court fist turns to plaintiff's numerous interrelated arguments against dismissal
under Rule 12(b)(1). Essentially, the plaintiff contends that, for purposes of théidinsta
period, he did not become aware that the defendant’s actions were “adverse antibhg” u
received the January 25, 2010 OPM lett&@PM Letter”) denying his application for disability
benefits. Pl.’s Mem. at 14. The plaintiff claims that OPM denied his applicatioed'loesthe

‘Supervisor’'s Statement’ submitted with Plaintiff’'s application for disabigtyrement][,]

14



documentation which Defendant in violation of the law has not provided the Plaimdifflt

was only upon receiving the OPM Letter, which he interprets as basingniaé afehis
application on the “Supervisor's&ément,” that the plaintiff says he realized that all of the
earlier actions of the defendants (the untimely production of the Supervisdaem&ita, the
refusal to show plaintiff the Supervisor's Statement, Chief Vento’s allegg@presentations,
Architect Ayer’s alleged misrepresentations, etc.) were “adverse atidel.’s Mem. at 14see
alsoBradshaw Decl{{ 8590. Similarly, the plaintiff argues that prior to receiving the OPM
Letter, he “had no notice or knowledge that Defendant creatqueavssory hostile work
environment” and that “the creation of the supervisory hostile environment was anéadvers
action.” Id. at 1 98.

The paintiff makes a number of argemits to support the proposition that his seeking
counseling within 180 days aftreceiving the OPM Letter constitutes a timely request for
counseling. The plaintiff principallselies onDelaware State College v. Ri¢k19 U.S. 250,
258 (1980)to support his contention that the statute of limitatimnseeking counselingegan
running when he received the January 25, 2010 OPM denial letter, and not befieks the
Supreme Court stated that “the only alleged discrimination occurradd-the filing limitations
periods therefore commenced atthe time the tenure decisiomsvmaé and communicated to
Ricks.” 449 U.S. at 258. The plaintiff further points to numerous decisions relyiRgksthat
similarly state that the limitationseriod is triggered whethe plaintiff learns of an adverse
action. Seg e.g, Beltv. United States Department of Labdos. 04-3487, 04-3926, 2006 WL
197385, at *4 (6th Cir. 200§)JA plaintiff’'s cause of action accrues when he receives notice of
termination, not when his employment actually ceasdsldhertyv. Metromail Corp, 235 F.3d

133, 137 (2d Cir. 2000) (noting that it “has Idogen settled that a claim of employment
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discrimination accrues for statute of limitation purposes on the date the emiglayeseof the
employer’s dscriminatory conduct.”)Farrell v. Bank of New Hampshire-Portsmou@29 F.2d

871, 874 (1sCir. 1991) (“Were the triggering act . . . uncommunicated to anyone else, it is hard
to see any legal consequences attending the [adverse decision]. It renedynsiduh the

power of the decider to revoke, to altereven not to reveal the decision for the limitations
period”). The defendandoes not disagree thiane starts tolling when the adge acts are
communicated to a party, but argues that the adverse actioedyimglthe paintiff's claims

were commaicated to him well before the January 25, 2010 letfeef.’s Reply at 7.

In a related point, sindde plaintiff argues that he was unaware that the defendant’s
actions were adverse until he received@iM Letter the plaintiff contends thadlhe “discrete
‘adverse actions,’ though discrete,” Pl.’'s Mem. at 15, should not be looked at individually.
Rather, the plaintiff argues that the Complaint must be viewad'@asique entity,’id. at 14, and
“a unique undivided integrated whdleld. at 15. “Tle Complaint,” the plaintiff states,
“refracted through the prism of said January 25, 2010 letter of the OPM, is the supaotfsits
To allow fragmentation is to [provide] an escape from responsibillty.”Similarly, the
plaintiff argues that “Defendant’s reliance on linear time is misplacked. The gaintiff argues
that, reminiscent of the movie Citizen Kane (a film “toldlashback”)or a mystery novelthe
significance of the ‘adverse actions’ alleged as ‘adverse actions’ and unlaefirhchatory and
retaliatory employment practices set forth [in the counts defendant seek® tisraissed under
Rule 12(b)(1)] cannot be identified as ‘adverse actions’ until pebgi Raintiff of the January
25, 2010 letter of the OPM containing the ‘Bopsor’s Statement’ that Defendant denied the

Plaintiff and was the basis for denying Plaintiff his application for disabéiiyement by the
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OPM.” Id. at 17. It is only athat time, plaintiff argues, that he realized that all of the earlier
acts were adverse actiotigiminating in the denial of his disability retirement

The plaintiff's argument is unavailing, however, for several reasons. thest/leged
adverse action of January 25, 2010 was a decision by the OPM, and not even a decision or action
by the defendant. The plaintiff has not stated a plausible claim that a decisiomobyparty to
this action denying the plaintiff disability retirement benefits transformedefemdant’s earlier
actions into “adverse actions.” Second, byttime the plaintiff received the OPM Letter, he was
already aware that he had not seen the Supervisor’s Statement, that Chiefadeaitededly
misrepresented when his application was filed, and that he had decided to takepart i
Settlement Agreemenather than a due process hearing.

Third, to the extent that the plaintiff is alleging that his OPM denial of disabilityfieene
was because of the content of the Supervisor’s Statement, the plaintiff hasewba giusible
claim. To the contrary,sathe defendant indicates, a review of the OPM Letter shows that the
adverse decision was based, not on anything stated in the Supervisor's Stateroaritydut
insufficiency of the medical documentation in the plaintiff's applicatieeOPM
Determinaion Letter, ECF No. 8-3, at 6 (“In summary, the medical evidence in file did not
establish that you had disabling medical conditions/symptoms. There wagiestffiedical
documentation to demonstrate the severity of your symptoms. We cannot detbanywair
symptoms resulted in a disability. Based on information in file, the medical ioondit not
appear to be serious, severe, or disabling . . . Therefore, we have disallowappfmation for
disability retirement.”). The plaintiff stated ms Complaint that he provided medical
documentation in his applicatioikeeCompl. § 47 (“On December 31, 2008, Plaintiff . . .

timely provided Ms. Vento . . . with the forms and medical documentation he was required to
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provide in necessary support of his application for disability retirement . . . .”)le Wi
plaintiff suggests that “medical evidence” was “submitted [by the Supes/Statement],” Pl.’s
Mem. at 15, the Supervisor’'s Statement and the rest of the Complaint do not offer support for
this unsubstantiated allegation. To the contrary, the Complaint states claathetplaintiff
had the opportunity to submit medical evidence to support his application for disability
retirement benefits. Compl. {1 47. From the plain reading of ti¢ @#nial letter, the plaintiff
was denied benefits because the medical evidence was not sufficient to “datadhstseverity
of [his] symptoms.”OPM Determination Letter, ECF No-38 at 6. Accordingly, the plaintiff
has alleged no plausible allegatito support the running of the limitations period from the time
he received the denial letter from the OPM, an entity not even a party to ibis’act

The plaintiff also argues unavailingly that the federal “discovery ridetlsl apply in
this case.Pl.’s Mem. at 22-25. The plaintiff alleges that he “did not discover that Supervisor
Barber and Defendant, in violation of the ‘Instructions’ contained in the ‘Supervstat&sment’
submitted by Defendant with Plaintiff's application for disabilityreshent, did not provide the
Plaintiff with a copy of the ‘Supervisor’'s Statement’ and the attachmenttahgursuant to
which the OPM denied Plaintiff’'s application for disability retirement.” P&m. at 25. This
Court finds, however, that the discovery rule does not save the plaintiff's claimstu@dhA,
where the statute of limitations is a jurisdictional b&ee e.g Terry v. U.S. Small Business
Admin 699 F. Supp. 2d 49, 54-55 (D.D.C. 2010) (“when a statute of limitations has been
regardé as jurisdictional, ‘it has acted as an absolute bar [that cannot] be overcome by the

application of judicially recognized exceptions . . . such as waiver, estoppelpégjtothng,

® The plaintiff also claims in his Opposition to the instant Motion that the OPM‘stated that Defendant had
‘provided information showing that [Plaintiff] hadsigned’ from Defendant, when in fact the Plaintiff had not
resigned.” Pl.’s Mem. at 15. The Settlement Agreement, howeveidpdothat'Successful completion of this
agreement constitutes that no more than Mr. Bradshaw’s resignaliidie wicludedn his Official Personnel File
(OPF).” ECF No. 42.
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fraudulent concealment, the discovery rule and the continuing violations doctrifenfjane v.
United States775 F. Supp. 2d 87, 90 (D.D.C. 2011) (“[W]hen a statute of limitations has been
regarded as jurisdictional, it has acted as an absolute bar that cannot be obgrtwene
application of judicially recognized excegts such as waiver, estoppetjuitable tolling,
fraudulent concealment, the discovery rule, and the continuing violations doctdma&ip(s
omitted);Conservation Force v. Salaza&811 F. Supp. 2d 18, 19 (D.D.C. 20113 {tirisdctional
statute of limitationgannot be overcome by the application of judicially recognized exceptions
such as waiver, estoppel, equitable tolling, fraudulent concealment, the discoveandiee
continuing violations doctrine.”) (citations and internal quotation mankgted). Even if the
discovery rule applied here, the plaintiff's claims would not survive the Motion taigss
because the plaintiff knew that Supervisor Barber had not provided him a copy of the
Supervisor’'s Statement more than 180 days before he sought coursselBiggdshaw Decl.
51; Declaration of June Henderson (“Henderson Def}3-9, 13 (describing plaintiff's efforts
to obtain the Supervisor Statement from Barber, to no avail). Furthermore, thefgiamtiiade
no plausible allegatiornat the substance of the supervisor’s letter was the reason for the denial
of his benefits.

The plaintiff argues in the alternative that the plaintiff’'s request for @ngswas
timely pursuant to the doctrine of equitable tolling. As the plainitiffiSielf notes, however, the
D.C. Circuit, inBlackmonMalloy v. United States Capitol Police Boa&¥'5 F.3d 699 (D.C.
Cir. 2009),determined that equitable doctrimaay not be used to excusempliance with the
threestep process under the CASee idat 702 (“We hold the threstep process is
jurisdictional and thus affirm the district court ruling that equitable doctrineb, &s vicarious

exhaustion, do not apply to excuse compliance with) gee alsdl.’s Mem. at 26. Circuit
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precedent is binding on this Court, so plaintiff's arguments for application of ank#quita
doctrine, equitable tolling, are unavailing.

Although the plaintiff would like the Court to analyze the complaint as “an undivided
integrated whole,” the Court must instead aralthe plaintiff's claims individually to determine
when the plaintiff learned of the allegedly adverse actions. In doing so, the Gdsrtifat the
plaintiff knew of all of the alleged adverse actions well before he soughtetlmgisThe Court
now turns to the underlying facts of each adverse action that must be dismissidréotaa
comply with the requirements of CAA’s section 1402.

2. Underlying Claims in Counts 1, 2, 3, 7, 9, 10, 11, 15, 17, 18, 19, 23

The Court groups the underlying claims loé {Complaint by subject matter below, first
addressing the plaintiff's allegations (a) related to the “refusal tendant to timely produce
supervisor Barber’s statement to be submitted with plaintiff's applicatioridabitity
retirement,”seeCompl.at 1314, 23-24, 33-35 (Counts 1, 9, 17), and “the refusal by defendant
to provide the plaintiff with a copy of the statement . se€Compl. at 14-15, 24-25, 35-36
(Counts 2, 10, 18); then turning to the plaintiff's allegations regarding (b) the “detenda
interference with plaintiff's application for disability retiremerggeCompl. at 15-16, 24-25,
36-38 (Counts 3, 11, 19); and finally addressing the plaintiff’'s claims related ke (c) t
“deprivation of plaintiff's entittement and right of redress to a due procegst€hb2 formal
hearing on the November 7, 2007 Proposal to remove the plaintiff from his employment with
defendant,’seeCompl. at 20-22, 31-32, 43-44 (Counts 7, 15, and 23). The Court concludes that
all of these counts must be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(1) because the plaintiff eanghtitcg

more than 180 days aftlarning ofthe alleged adverse actions described in these coBae2
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U.S.C. § 1402(a) (“A request for counseling shall be made not later than 180 dayisealhte
of the alleged violation”).

(@) Supervisor Statement Allegations (Counts 1, 9, 17; 2, 10, 18)

Counts 1, 9, and 17 and Counts 2, 10, and 18 of the plaintiffs Complaint are all
allegations concerning the plaintiff's supervisor, James Barber, ari@tpervisor Statement”
part of the disability retirement application. Counts 1, 9, and 17 all focus on the allefyesal*
by defendant to timely produce supervisor Barber’s statement to be submittecawnitifi’sl
application for disability retirenmg.” SeeCompl. at 13-14, 23-24, 33-35. The plaintiff alleges,
for example, that the “refusal by Defendant to timely produce SupervisoeBastatement to
be submitted with Plaintiff's application for disability retirement,” Gun§ 82 (Count I), waan
“unlawful discriminatory employment [practice]” that was (fbased on Plaintiff['s] ADA
qualified disabilities . . ."id.; and an “unlawful retaliatory employment [practice],” Compl.
122 (Count 9), (2) “based on Plaintiff[‘'s] use of FMLA leave pursuant to his approved absence
from the workplace to enter a thirty day residential rehabilitation treatmentyfdoilithe serious
FMLA medical condition of alcoholism . . . .[,id.; and (3) “based on Plaintiff's AFSCME
Local 626 union membership and use of said union’s services in representing him . .. .” Compl.
91170 (Count 17).

Similarly to Counts 1, 9, and 17, Counts 2, 10, and 18 all relate to allegations by the
plaintiff regarding the “refusal by defendant to provide the plaintiff with & cdphe statement
of supervisor Barber to be submitted with plaintiff's application for disgbitirement.” See
Compl. at 14-15, 24-25, 35-36. The plaintiff alleges that “refusal by Defendant to provide the
Plaintiff with a copy of the statement of Supervisor Barber to be submitted withifiP&ain

application for disability retirement” was an “unlawful discriminatory ¢pice],” Compl. 1 87
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(Count 2) that was (1) “based on Plaintiff's ADA qualified disabilitiesirféis recorded

medical history, [ad] Defendant’s regard of Plaintiff's physical impairments . . . ifi]’ and an
“unlawful retaliatory employment [practice],” Compl. 128 (Count 10), that wdbé2ed on
Plaintiff's use of FMLA leave pursuant to his approved absence from the warkplaater a
thirty day residential rehabilitation treatment facility for the serious FMLA naédmndition of
alcoholism . . .[,]"id.; and (3) “based on Plaintiffs AFSCME Local 626 union membership and
use of said union’s services in representing him .. ..” Compl. § 176.

The defendant argues, and the Court agrees, that the Court does not have subject matter
jurisdiction to address any of these claims. When the plaintiff submitted hisadiopl on
December 31, 2008, with the assistance of his mother, the plaintiff knew that thetmpplara
disability retirement did not yet include the Supervisor's Statement froneBddb §47; Pl.’s
Decl. |1 4446. In fact, the plaintiff emphasizes that he only submitted his applicatiomafter
“made timdy and numerous requests for [Barber’s statement] to be submitted with his
application for disability retirement.” Compl. 1 46; Pl.’s Decl. 42 The plaintiff also states
that, earlier, on October 23, 2008, he attempted to deliver a sealed envelope to Qioi¢hate
he thought contained the Supervisor's Statement. Pl.’s Decl. 1 43-44. “Chief Vento, on
opening the sealed envelope noted, the required Supervisor’'s Statement was not in the
envelope.”ld. 45 (internal quotation mark omitted). Thus, the plaintiff knew by December 31,
2008, when he submitted his application for disability retirement, that the defendardtha
provided the plaintiff a copy of the Supervisor's Statement.

Although the plaintiff was well aware of the missing document from Barber|dfreifh
did not seek counseling until more than a year and a half after he submittedthigydisa

retirement application, on July 16, 2010. This Court must dismiss these allegatiodscetyer
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failure to provide him with a copy of the supervisor statement for lack of subjeetr matt
jurisdiction as plaintiff knew of the missing supervisor statement more thear dogfore he
requested counselingee Gordon750 F. Supp. 2d at 90 (filing limitations period begins
accruing upon notice or discovery of an adverse action).

(b) Submission of Plaintiff’'s Application Allegations (Counts 3, 11, 19)

Counts 3, 11, and 19 are all allegations related to “defendant’s interference with
plaintiff's application for disability retirement” thrgh Chief Vento’s “multiple
misrepresentations respecting the dates when she submitted plaintiff’ sapplor disability
retirement.” Compl. at 136, 25-26, 3638. The plaintiff alleges that Chief Vento’s “multiple
representations . . . were unlawful discriminatory employment practiCesypl. § 92 (Count 3),
that were (1) “based on Plaintiff's ADA qualified disabilities, Plaintifeeorded medical
history, [and] Defendant’s regard of Plaintiff's physical impairments,]”. id.; and “unlawful
retaliatory employment practices,” Compl. § 134 (Count 11), that were (Bd'leesPlaintiff's
use of FMLA leave pursuant to his approved absence from the workplace to enter ayhirty da
residential rehabilitation treatment facility. . .[iff.; and (3)‘based on Plaintiffs AFSCME
Local 626 union membership and use of said union’s services in representing him . ..” Compl. |
182 (Count 19).

As notedsuprg the plaintiff has alleged that Chief Vento promised his mother in
December 2008 that plaintiffdisability retirement application would be submitted the first
week of January 2009d. § 48. The plaintiff then alleges that Chief Vento offered him and his
mother multiple misrepresentations about the dates on which plaintiff's applieaiuld be
submitted.Id. 11 47, 49-50, 51-52, 54, 57-58. The plaintiff also alleges, however, that he

learned from a retirement specialist in June or July 2009 that the plaiagffieation “was not
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recorded as being received in the NFC until February 27, 20097 63. Therefore, the

plaintiff knew as of June or July 2009 that the application had not been filed as Chief \&nto ha
allegedly promised, in the first week of January 2009. The plaintiff, however, did not seek
counseling until nearly a year later. The allegations about Chief Ventgedl

misrepresentations about submission of the application must therefore be didori$sek of
subject matter jurisdiction because the plaintiff did not seek counseling within y80fda

learning of Chief Vento’s alleged misrepresentations.

(c) Deprivation of Due Process Hearing Allegations (Counts 7, 15, 23)

Counts 7, 15, and 23 are all allegations related to the alleged “deprivation offfdaintif
entitlement and right of redress to a due process Chapter 752 formal hearing on theéidie
2007 Proposal to remove the plaintiff from his employment with defendant.” Compl. at 20-22,
31-32, 4344. The plaintiff alleges that this was an “unlawful discriminatory employment
[practice],” Compl. { 112 (Count 7), that was (1) “based on Plaintiff's ADA qualified
disabilities, Plaintiff's recorded medical history, [and] Defendant’ s @f Plaintiff's ADA
qualified disabilities . . .[,]id.; and an “unlawful retaliatory employment practjfeCompl.

158 (Countl5); (2)“based on Plaintiff's use of FMLA leave pursuant to his approved absence
from the workplace to enter a thirty day residential rehabilitation treatmentyfacilit]” id.;

and (3) “based on Plaintiffs AFSCME Local 626 union membership and use of said union’s
services . ...” Compl. § 206.

As notedsupra pursuant to the plaintiff's request, a formal Chapter 752 hearing was
scheduled in this matter for May 8, 2008. 11 2526. The plaintiff states that, on May 8, 2008,
“the parties entered into a Settlement Agreement in lieu of a formal hearing antkdxatu

‘Agreement Framework.”Id. J 27;see alsd”l.’s Decl. at { 22 (*. . . | entered into a Settlement
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Agreement with the Defendant in lieu of a formal hearing . . .”). Although #etibl was
aware that he entered into a Settlement Agreement “in lieu of’ a formatdpearMay 8, 2008,
he is now attempting to bring claims related to his deprivation of a formal hedigyCourt
plainly lacks subject matter jurisdiction to hela@de claims because the plaintiff sought
counseling nearly two years after he was aware that he was not taking parmaledice
process hearing. Eventhe Court had subject matter jurisdiction to hear these claims, it is
unlikely that the plaintificould state a claim for relief given that he voluntarily agreed to take
part in the Settlement Agreement “in lieu of a formal hearind.”

B. Counts Dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) or, in the Alternative, Summary
Judgment

“To survive a motion to dismes, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter,
accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fash¢roft v. Iqgbal129 S.
Ct. 1937, 1949 (2009). The defendant argues that the remainder of plaintiff’'s claime may b
dismissed for failure to state a claim to relief that can possibly give rise to réhefCourt
agrees. The Court discusses the plaintiff's remaining claims below, groupioguths of the
Complaint by subject matter. The Court first addresses plaintiff's allegatiatedréo () the
alleged “breach of Section 9 of the May 8, 2009 Agreement by way of the statement of
Supervisor Barber submitted with plaintiff's applicat for disability retirement,5eeCompl. at
18, 28, 39 (Counts 5, 13, 21). The Court then turns totpfarallegations regarding?) the
“creation of a supervisory hostile work environmesgeCompl. at 22-23, 32-33, 45-46 (Counts
8, 16, 24); (3the alleged “constructive discharge of the plaintiff from employmeegCompl.
at 1920, 29-31, 41-43 (Counts 6, 14, 22); angdgHegations of “Acting Architect Ayers’s
Misrepresentations to Congressman Hoyer respecting the ‘oversight’ lagdrdgsubmitting

plaintiff's application for disability retirementseeCompl. at 16-18, 27-28, 38-40 (Counts 4, 12,
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20). The Court concludes that all of these claims must be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) fo
failure to state a claim which céplausibly give rise to an entitheent to relief,” as required by
Igbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1941.

1. Breach of the May 8, 2008 Settlement Agreement Allegations (Counts
5, 13, 21)

Counts 5, 13, and 21 all concern defendant’s alleged “breach of Section 9 of the May 8,
2008 Agreement by way of the statement of Supervisor Barber submitted witifffgai
application for disability retirement.” Compl. 1 102, 146, 194. The plaintiff allbgés t
“[tlhere was a causal connection between the Plaintiff's ADA qualifieabdises, Plaintiff's
recorded medical history, [and] Defendant’s regard of Plaintiff as disabtedidefendant’s
alleged breachld. § 103. The plaintiff further alleges that “Defendant’s breach of Section 9 of
the May 8, 2008 Agreement by way of the statement of Supervisor Barber sdbmititte
Plaintiff's application for disability retirement were unlawful retaliatory empient activities
reasonably likely and designed to deter, chill and interfere with the Plam#fticipating and
engaging in federally protected activities under the CAA.” Compl. { 148. The fplalsi
states that the alleged breach was based on (1) “Plaintiff's ADA qualifiablilities, Plaintiff's
recorded medical history, [and] Defendant’s regard of Plaintiff's physigairments,” Compl.
1 102; (2) “Plaintiff's use of FMLA leave pursuant to his approved absence from tklaoar
to enter a thirty day residential rehabilitation treatment facility for the seridilg\Fnedical
condition of alcoholism . . .[,]id. T 146; and (3) “Plaintiffs AFSCME Local 626 union
membership and use of said union’s services in representing him .. ..” Compl. { 194.

As notedsuprg Section 9 of the May 8, 2008 agreement provided that the agreement was
“entered into on a noprecedential basis. Signature of this agreement does not in any way

constitute an admism or error or wrongloing by any of the PartiesId.  40. The plaintiff
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alleges in his Complaint that this section was violated by Supervisor Barber. CHri@2,
146, 194. Specifically, he alleges that he “first learned that James BdderffB first-line
supervisor, documented that Plaintiff had a service deficiency of unacceptabtaate; and
that the medical documents regarding Plaintiff's restrictions ‘did not show thseitviee
deficiency described by Mr. Barber was as a reffudtdisabling medical condition that
precluded the performance of your essential duties or medically waksanie continued
absence from the workplace.lt. { 68.

The defendant argues in its Motion to Dismiss that these counts should be dismissed
under Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granééds NDem. at
9-11. Defendant specifically asserts that nothing in Section 9 of the agreeméetd"br
restricted in any manner” Supervisor Barber’s statement abontiffla service deficiency of
unacceptable attendancel. at 11. Defendant claims, therefore, that plaintiff has not “allege[d]
any facts showing that he had rights under the settlement agreement tHaplausibly]
breached in any mannerltl. at 12. Alternatively, the defendant moves for summary judgment
on these counts “because assuming the truth of [plaintiff's] allegations, Plaastifailed to
show that any reasonable fact finder could find a breach of the settlemememend thus
failed to show a materially adverse employment action, or a materiallysaedaetion.” Id.

The paintiff fails toaddress defendant’s argumentdsmissingCounts 5, 13, and 21
for failure to state a claimSee generalll.’'s Mem. at 29-34. The cotsnmay be dismissed for
this reason alon€'lt is well understood in this Circuit that when a plaintiff files an opposition to
a motion to dismiss addressing only certain arguments raised by the defendarttn@ag treat
those arguments that the plainfailed to address as concededdbpkins v. Women’s Div., Gen.

Bd. of Global Ministries238 F. Supp. 2d 174, 178 (D.D.C. 2002) (cit#igiC v. Bender127
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F.3d 58, 67-68 (D.C. Cir. 1997pay v. D.C. Dep’t of Consumer & Regulatory Affait91 F.

Supp. 2d 154, 159 (D.D.C. 2002) (“If a party fails to counter an argument that the opposing party
makes in a motion, the court may treat that argument as conceBadtpult v. McNamara227

F. Supp. 2d 144, 149 (D.D.C. 2002) (“if the opposing party files a responsive memorandum, but
fails to address certain arguments made by the moving party, the court atdlydse arguments

as conceded, even when the resulissngssal of the entire caseJ.he Court therefore treats the
defendant’s arguments as conegdorthese Counts. In any event, the defendant is correct that
Supervisor Barber’s notation regarding the plaintiff’'s service deficienayas cry from

accusinghe plaintiff of “wrongdoing.” Indeed, nowhere does the plaintiff allege that the
deferdant violated section 9 of the agreement by indicating that the plaintiff was temninate
involuntarily, which might contravene the “spirit” of the paragraph of the Separatjmement

at issue irCounts 5, 13, and 21. Thus, the Complaint simply faifgdte a claim that the

Settlement Agreement was breached by Supervisor Barber’s Statement.

2.  Hostile Work Environment Allegations (Counts 8, 16, 24)

The Court next turns to the plaintiff's hostile work environment claims. Counts 8, 16,
and 24 all contain allegations related to the alleged “creation of a supervisolg Wwoski
environment.” Compl. at 22-23, 32-33, 45-46. “To determine whether a hostile work
environment exists, the court looks to the totality of the circumstances, inclbdifrgquency
of the discriminatory conduct, its severity, its offensiveness, and wheth@erf¢res] with an
employee’s work performanceHunter v. District of Columbia7z97 F. Supp. 2d 86, 92 (D.D.C.
2011)(quotingBaloch v. Kempthorné50 F.3d 1191, 1201 (D.C. Cir. 2008)). In order to
succeed with such a claimg plaintiff must show thatis employer subjected him to

‘discriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insult’ that sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter
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the conditions of the victim's employment and create an abusive working envirohment.’
Baloch 550 F.3dat 1201.

The plaintiff alleges in his Complaint under the heading of “hostile work envirofiment
that there was a “causal connection between the Plaintiff's ADA qualifiaditties, Plaintiff's
medical history, Defendant’s regard of Plaintiff as disabled under the ADAgnirs
[plaintiff's physical impairments] and Plaintiff's ADA request for reasdeazcommodation by
way of his absence from the workplace for thirty days for supervised realdezditment . . .
and the pattern of decisions taken by Defendant’s decisionmaking agentagestitie
unlawful discriminatory employment practices [set forth in the Complai@@mpl.  118. The
plaintiff argues additionally thde has “[supported]” his hostile work environment allegation
with facts such as defendant’s denying the plaintiff a copy of the Supé&\vitatement. Pl.’s
Mem. at 31. The plaintiff's claim fails, however, because, viewing the Gomymn the light
most favorable to the plaintiff, the plaintiff does not allegg “discriminatory intimidation,
ridicule, and insult” much less intimidation, ridicule, and insult that are “suffigicetiere or
pervasive to alter the conditions of the victim’s employtrieBaloch 550 F.3d at 1201.
Nowhere in the Complaint does the plaintiff provide any support for the conclusion that he
worked in a “hostile work environment.” Denying the plaintiff a copy of the Supersisor’
Statement, without any plausible suggestlaat this was a discriminatory act does not suffice to
support a hostile work environment claim.

Nor does the denial of disability retirement benefits for the plaintifftdotes a hostile
work environment claim. The plaintiff states that “the initial denial of Plaintiff{diagtion for
disability retirement loss was a loss of benefits to the Plaintiff additional to thenlos

compensation and health benefits attributable to the “Supervisor's Statement l.’s. MeR. at
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33. As the Court haslready determined, the missing Supervisor’'s Statement claims must be
dismissed under Rule 12(b)(1). Furthermore, the basis for OPM’s denial of bevasfidsie to
the lack of medical documentary support, not Supervisor Barber’'s Statement. Aoly loss
benefits because of OPM'’s decision seems more appropriately addresséd tioa@Ro the
defendant, who did not make the decision to initially deny the plaintiff disatelitrgment
benefits. Counts 8, 16, and 24 are therefore dismissed for failusgd@stiaim.

3.  Constructive Discharge from Employment Allegations (Counts 6, 14, 22)

Counts 6, 14, and 22 are all allegations regarding the alleged “constructivegiksahar
the plaintiff from employment.” Compl. at 2, 29-31, 41-43. To estalikh a claim for
constructive discharge, a plaintiff must prove that (1) intentional discrimmasisted(2) the
employer deliberatelgnade working conditions intolerable, and (3) aggravating factors justified
the plaintiff's conclusion that she had no option but to end her employnmeey.v. Fenty789
F. Supp. 2d 65, 71 (D.D.C. 2011)Citcuit law is clear thaafinding of constructive discharge
depends on whether the employer deliberately made working conditions intolerclleae
the employe®ut.” Mungin v. Katten Muchin & Zavjid416 F.3d 1549, 1558 (D.C. Cir. 1997).
“The inquiry is objective: Did working conditions become so intolerable that a reasqreabbn
in the employees position wouldhave felt compelled to resign¥eitch v. Egland 471 F.3d
124, 130 (D.C. Cir. 2006)The D.C. Circuit has made clear that the “mere existence of
workplace discrimination is insufficient to make owtamstructive discharge claim;
[c]onstructive discharge . . . requires a finding of discriminadiath the existence of certain
‘aggravating factors. Id. (citations and quotation marks omitted). “Aggravating factarg’
those aspects of a discriminatory work environment that, by making the workplace

disagreeable, prevent the reasonable emplsgee seeking remediation on the joldd.
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(citation omitted)see alsdashnaw v. Pendl2 F.3d 1112, 1115 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (“in order to
find constructive discharge in a case involving a claim of discrimination,tadDSourt must
find not only intentional discrimination, but also ‘aggravating factors.”).

Viewing the Complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, the “[p]laint# h
failed to allege facts thapfausibly give rise to amnditlement to relieffor constructive
discharge.”lvey, 789 F. Supp. 2d at 72 (quotifgpal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949-50). First, the plaintiff
has not plausibly alleged that there was any “intentional discriminationtdswiae defendant.
Second, there is simply no allegation that working conditions weaay way “intolerable” for
the plaintiff, nor any facts alleged at all about the plaintiff’'s working caostiVeitch 471
F.3d at 130. The Settlement Agreement that led to the plaintiff's separation figoyesrant
came about because plaintiff's seyasor proposed his removal for “failure to follow leave
procedures, absences without authorized leave . . ., inappropriate behavior, sleepgndudyri
hours, disappearance during duty hours and failure to follow the direct order of a supervisor
Compl. § 22. There is no plausible claim from the plaintiff that intolerable wockinditions
led to the plaintiff's separation from employment. Finally, the plaintiff has allage
“aggravating factors” leading to his resignation. The plaintiff resigrsegl term of a Settlement
Agreement that came about because of the plaintiff's performance of kislutags, not
because of any aggravating factors. Therefore, the plaintiff's clainesmstructive discharge
must be dismissed for failure to state a claim.

4.  Misrepresentations to Congressman Allegations (Counts 4, 12, 20)

Counts 4, 12, and 20 all relate to allegations of “Acting Architect Ayers’s
Misrepresentations to Congressman Hoyer respecting the ‘oversight’ lagdrdsubmitting

plaintiff’'s application for disability retirement.” Compl. at-18, 27-28, 38-40. As noted, in
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February 2010, Architect Ayer respondeadiétter to Congressman Hoyeifgjuiry about the
status of the plaintiff's application. Architect Ayer explained in the latiger alia, that the
plaintiff’'s application “package was processed and forwarded to the [NFCJooudfg 27,
2009.” Id. 1 70. Architect Ayer noted that “Mr. Bradshaw'’s voluntary resignation was
processed before his application for disability retirement was adjudica{@Pd1].” Id. § 71.
“[T]his discrepancy,” the letter stated, “caused a delay in processing at A$-& result, OPM
did not receive Mr. Bradshaw’s application from NFC until September 16, 20097"72.

The defendant arguéisatthes claims must be dismissed under Rule J(Bjdbecause
the plaintiff“has failed to make any factual allegations . . . which plausibly give rise to an
entitlement to relief.” Def.’s Mem. at 1@efendant argues furthermore that the “February 4,
2010letter, writtenafter OPM had denied Plaintiff’'s application, could not have interfered with
the application. Thus, his factual allegations do not plausibly give rise tiemetnt to relief.”

Id. The Court agrees.

Viewing the Complaint in the lighthost favorable to the plaintiff, the plaintiff has not
stated a plausible claim for relief for the alleged “misrepresentations” intBctiAyer’s letter
to Congressman Hoyer. First of all, is not clear from the Complaint @taheiff's brief what
the plaintiff believes were the “misrepresentations” in this letter from Architget. ATo the
extent that the plaintiff is perhaps alleging that the “discrepancy” at issuelettdravas not an
“oversight” but was intentional, the plaintiff has statedplausible allegations to support this
proposition. Second, the letter seems to have had no negative repercussions for tifie plainti
The contents of the letter did not impact the plaintiff's employment and there dtegatians
that the letter influenced OPM'’s decision about plaintiff's disability retiremgpitcation.

Third, the letter was to a Congressman, and not to OPM, the entity that imigalgd the
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plaintiff's allegation. The plaintiff has put forth no plausible allegations thdette was of
any consequence to him. The plaintiff's claims must therefore be dismissedRuhelé?2(b)(6)
for failure to state a claim for which relief can be granted.
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons ebkgned below, 12 counts of the thiaiptiff's Complaint are dismissed
under Rule 12(b)(1) (Counts 1, 2, 3, 7, 9, 10, 11, 15, 17, 18, 19, and 23), and 12 counts are
dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) (Counts 4, 5, 6, 8, 12, 13, 14, 16, 20, 21, 22, and 24). Since all
counts of the Complaint are dismissea, tase as a whole must be dismissed. An Order

consistent with this Opinion shall be issued.

DATED: April 20, 2012 7
ISl . Loyl A Kt
BERYL A. HOWELL
United States District Judge
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